
 

 
 

Law & Democracy 
Democratic Services 

 

 

 

TO COUNCILLOR: 
 

Mrs R H Adams 
G A Boulter 

Mrs L M Broadley (Chair) 
F S Broadley 
D M Carter 

M H Charlesworth 
Mrs H E Darling JP 

M L Darr (Vice-Chair) 
Mrs L Eaton JP 
D A Gamble 

F S Ghattoraya 
J Kaufman 
Miss A Kaur 

Ms C D Kozlowski 
Mrs H E Loydall 

 

Dear Sir or Madam 
 

I hereby SUMMON you to attend a meeting of the LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
to be held at the COUNCIL OFFICES, STATION ROAD, WIGSTON on THURSDAY, 10 MARCH 
2022 at 6.30 PM for the transaction of the business set out in the Agenda below. 

 

 Yours faithfully 
 

 

Council Offices 
Wigston 
02 March 2022 

 
 

Mrs Anne E Court 
Chief Executive 

 

I T E M  N O . A G E N D A P A G E  N O ’ S 

 

1.   Live Stream of Meeting | Instructions  

 This meeting will be live streamed. 
  
Press & Public Access: 
 
YouTube Live Stream 
 
A direct link to the live stream of the meeting's proceedings on the Council's 
YouTube Channel is below. 
 
https://youtu.be/gbpD4AGwCRE  

 

2.   Apologies for Absence  

 To receive apologies for absence from Members to determine the quorum of the 
meeting in accordance with Rule 7 of Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

3.   Appointment of Substitutes  

 To appoint substitute Members in accordance with Rule 26 of Part 4 of the 
Constitution and the Substitution Procedure Rules. 

 

4.   Declarations of Interest  

~ Page 1 ~

https://youtu.be/gbpD4AGwCRE


 

 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
Thursday, 10 March 2022 

 Printed and published by Democratic Services,  
Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, Council Offices, 

Station Road, Wigston, Leicestershire, LE18 2DR 
 

 Members are reminded that any declaration of interest should be made having 
regard to the Members’ Code of Conduct. In particular, Members must make 
clear the nature of the interest and whether it is 'pecuniary' or ‘non-pecuniary'. 

 

5.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 4 - 6 

 To read, confirm and sign the minutes of the previous meeting in accordance 
with Rule 19 of Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

6.   Action List Arising from the Chair's Briefing 7 - 8 

 To read, confirm and note the Action List arising from the Chair’s Briefing.  

7.   Petitions and Deputations  

 To receive any Petitions and, or, Deputations in accordance with Rule(s) 11 and 
12 of Part 4 of the Constitution and the Petitions Procedure Rules respectively. 

 

8.   Licensing Team Plan (2022-2026) 9 - 12 

 Report of the Licensing Enforcement Officer  

9.   Regulatory Services Update (Q3 2021/22) 13 - 18 

 Report of the Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer  

10.   Statement of Gambling Policy (2022-2025) 19 - 56 

 Report of the Licensing Enforcement Officer  

 
For more information, please contact: 

 
Democratic Services 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council 
Council Offices 

Station Road, Wigston 
Leicestershire  

LE18 2DR 
 

t:  (0116) 257 2775 
e:  democratic.services@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

 
 

You can access all available public meeting documents  
and audio-visual live streams and recordings electronically on: 

 

  

  

    

Our website oadby-
wigston.gov.uk under 

'Your Council’ and 
‘Meeting Dates, 

Agendas & Minutes’  

Your smart iPad, 
Android or 

Windows tablet 
device with the 

‘Modern.Gov’ app 

Our YouTube Channel 
ow.ly/FYQW50zDNkc 
or smart device with the 

‘YouTube’ app 
(facilitated by ‘Zoom’) 

Our audio platform 
soundcloud.com/ 
oadbywigstonbc or 
smart device with the 
‘SoundCloud’ app 

 

 

~ Page 2 ~

https://moderngov.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://moderngov.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/modern-gov/id1453414073?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/moderngov/9pfpjqcvz8nl
http://ow.ly/FYQW50zDNkc
https://apps.apple.com/us/app/youtube-watch-listen-stream/id544007664
https://zoom.us/
https://soundcloud.com/oadbywigstonbc
https://soundcloud.com/oadbywigstonbc
https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/soundcloud-music-audio/id336353151?mt=8
https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/soundcloud-music-audio/id336353151?mt=8


Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Thursday, 24 June 2021 

Chair’s 
Initials  

 

 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE HELD 
AT THE COUNCIL OFFICES, STATION ROAD, WIGSTON ON THURSDAY, 24 JUNE 2021 

COMMENCING AT 6.30 PM 

 
PRESENT 

 

 
Mrs L M Broadley Chair 
M L Darr Vice-Chair 
 

COUNCILLORS  
 
Mrs R H Adams 
G A Boulter 
F S Broadley 
D M Carter 
M H Charlesworth 
R F Eaton 
Mrs L Eaton JP 
J Kaufman 
Mrs H E Loydall 

 

  

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE  
 
S J Ball Assistant Solicitor 
Miss E Byrne Democratic Services Officer 
D M Gill Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer 
J Wells Senior Environmental Health Officer / COVID-19 Lead 
 

16.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillors Miss A Kaur and C D Kozlowski.  

17.   APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTES 
 
None. 

18.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor M H Charlesworth declared a non-pecuniary interest with regard to item 7 of the 
agenda, insofar as he is the proprietor of a licensed catering business within the Borough. 

19.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
By affirmation of the meeting, it was 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 11 March 2021 be taken as read, 
confirmed and signed. 

20.   ACTION LIST ARISING FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
There was no Action List arising from the previous meeting held on 11 March 
2021. 

~ Page 3 ~

Agenda Item 5



Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Thursday, 24 June 2021 

Chair’s 
Initials  

 

 

21.   PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 
 
None. 

22.   FOOD SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN 2021/22 
 
The Committee gave consideration to the report as set out on pages 7 - 13 of the agenda 
which asked it to note the plan for delivering the food service for the current year.   
 
By affirmation of the meeting, it was 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The content of the report and appendix be noted. 

23.   PROPOSED PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER (NITROUS OXIDE) 2021 
 
The Committee gave consideration to the report as set out on pages 14 – 25 of the 
agenda which asked it to note the outcome of the public consultation and the evidence 
supporting the implementation of a proposed Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) to 
control the possession of nitrous oxide. 
 
The Committee requested that a leaflet be sent to all schools in the Borough explaining 
the dangers of using nitrous oxide, and also that a letter be written to the Local 
Government Association (LGA) asking them to lobby government to introduce a minimum 
age to purchase nitrous oxide. 
 
It was moved by Councillor J Kaufman, seconded by Councillor Mrs H E Loydall 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT 
 

(i) The content of the report and appendices be noted; and 
(ii) The draft Public Space Protection Order be recommended to Full Council 

for approval. 

24.   DOG WARDEN UPDATE (VERBAL UPDATE) 
 
The Committee gave consideration to the verbal update regarding the Dog Warden 
contract delivered by the Regulatory Services Manager, alongside the patrolling 
spreadsheet set out at pages 26-27 of the agenda. 
 
By affirmation of the meeting it was 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The content of the verbal update be noted. 

 
THE MEETING CLOSED AT 7.45 PM 

 
 

   

 Chair 
 

 Thursday, 9 September 2021 
 

~ Page 4 ~



Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Thursday, 24 June 2021 

Chair’s 
Initials  

 

 

 
 

Printed and published by Democratic Services, Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, 
Council Offices, Station Road, Wigston, Leicestershire, LE18 2DR 

~ Page 5 ~



 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Wednesday, 10 March 2021 

Chair’s  
Initials 

 

 

LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

ACTION LIST 

Arising from the Chair’s Briefing Tuesday, 01 March 2022 
 

No. 
  

Item of Business 
*Action Details /  
Action Due Date 

Responsible 
Officer(s)’ 

Initials 

Action 
Status 

1. E-Scooters  Request for an update on the 
current legal position regarding 
e-scooters. 

DMG Verbal 
Update  

E-Scooters  

It is currently illegal to use a privately-owned e-scooter on the 

public highway (roads, pavements or cycle paths). However, it 

is legal to ride a rental e-scooter where a trial rental scheme 

exists (subject to local rules and regulations) and having a ‘Q’ 

category on your full or provisional driving licence. As of 

February 2022, there are 32 regions operating rental 

schemes across many of the main urban areas of the UK. The 

Government is currently monitoring and evaluating the schemes 

with a view to introducing legislation in the near future.  

Mobility Scooters  

Government guidance published via the Highway Code says that 

pavements are safer than roads for users of powered 

wheelchairs and mobility scooters and should be used when 

available. Users should give pedestrians priority and show 

consideration for other pavement users, particularly those with 

a hearing or visual impairment who may not be aware that you 

are there. Powered wheelchairs and scooters MUST NOT travel 

faster than 4 mph on pavements or in pedestrian areas. 

2. Platinum Jubilee 
Celebrations  

Request for an update on the 
arrangements in place to 
facilitate street parties to 
celebrate the Queen’s Platinum 
Jubilee.  

Click here to enter text. 

DMG 
 

Verbal 
Update  

Leicestershire County Council are co-ordinating any application 

for Street Parties during the Platinum Jubilee weekend (which 

runs from Thursday 2 to Sunday 5 June 2022) that require a 

road closure. 

~ Page 6 ~

Agenda Item 6

https://www.pureelectric.com/blogs/news/electric-scooter-rental
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-users
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-users


 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Wednesday, 10 March 2021 

Chair’s  
Initials 

 

 

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-

council-works/civic-and-ceremonial/the-lord-lieutenant/her-

majesty-the-queens-platinum-jubilee 

County have included a link on their website which directs 

organisers to the OWBC website for events not requiring road 

closures https://www.oadby-

wigston.gov.uk/pages/event_notification  

Organisers of events who require a road closure need to submit 

an Event registration form to County before Friday 15th April 

2022. 

 
* | All actions listed are those which were informally raised by the Chair in the pre-meeting agenda 
briefing and which do not warrant the provision of a full report.  

~ Page 7 ~

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/civic-and-ceremonial/the-lord-lieutenant/her-majesty-the-queens-platinum-jubilee
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/civic-and-ceremonial/the-lord-lieutenant/her-majesty-the-queens-platinum-jubilee
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/civic-and-ceremonial/the-lord-lieutenant/her-majesty-the-queens-platinum-jubilee
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/pages/event_notification
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/pages/event_notification


 

 

 

Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Thursday, 10 March 
2022 

Matter for 
Information 

 

Report Title: Licensing Team Plan (2022-2026) 

Report Author(s): Tracey Aldwinckle (Licensing Enforcement Officer) 
 

Purpose of Report: To raise awareness of the Licensing Service and set out clear priorities 
for the period 2022 – 2026.  

Report Summary: The Licensing Team are responsible for the administration and 
enforcement of a wide range of licenses, permits and regulations.  
 
This report clarifies the key work areas and sets out five clear 
priorities to help drive the service forward following the pandemic with 
clear performance measures to track progress.  

Recommendation(s): That the content of the report be noted. 

Senior Leadership, 
Head of Service, 
Manager, Officer and 
Other Contact(s): 

David Gill (Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer) 
(0116) 257 2626 
david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 
 
Jon Wells (Senior Strategic Development Manager) 
(0116) 257 2692 
jon.wells@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 
 
Tracey Aldwinckle (Licensing Enforcement Officer) 
(0116) 257 2689 
tracey.aldwinckle@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

Corporate Objectives: Building, Protecting and Empowering Communities (CO1) 
Growing the Borough Economically (CO2) 
Providing Excellent Services (C03) 

Vision and Values: Accountability (V1) 
Customer Focus (V5) 

Report Implications:- 

Legal: Local authority licensing is a statutory function, its purpose rooted in 
public safety. The majority of licensing in local government is not 
optional, requiring the Council to fulfil a statutory process which then 
enshrines the licensing function within its remit and responsibilities.   
The licensing function is essential to enable businesses and individuals 
to work within the law. The Council must continue to operate the 
licensing function in all areas. Failure to do so is an abrogation of 
statutory duties with far reaching consequences for individuals and 
businesses. A robust action plan in this respect is essential. 

Financial: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Corporate Risk 
Management: 

Decreasing Financial Resources / Increasing Financial Pressures (CR1) 
Regulatory Governance (CR6) 

~ Page 8 ~

Agenda Item 8

mailto:david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:jon.wells@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:tracey.aldwinckle@oadby-wigston.gov.uk


 

 

Equalities and Equalities 
Assessment (EA): 

There are no implications arising from this report. 
EA not applicable 

Human Rights: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Health and Safety: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Statutory Officers’ Comments:- 

Head of Paid Service: The report is satisfactory. 

Chief Finance Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Monitoring Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Consultees: None. 

Background Papers: None. 

Appendices: None. 

 

1. Background 

1.1 During the pandemic, one member of the team was seconded to provide support for the 
COVID-19 response work for a period of 18 months. The post was temporarily back-filled 
for a short period to ensure continued delivery of statutory functions, albeit under 
extraordinary circumstances.   

1.2 Many businesses suffered, with many either not allowed to open or only open with 
restrictions and limitations in place. The taxi-related workload area significantly increased 
given they provided an essential service to so many at that time.  Following the 
announcement of the living with COVID-19 plan, this report highlights one of the Council’s 
statutory services and sets out a clear focus for the future to ensure the service can 
continue to thrive and perform.       

1.3 The Council’s Licensing Team is based within Regulatory Services. Its primary aim is the 
safety, well-being and protection of the general public. There are two full time members of 
staff. Duties include inspection and enforcement to ensure compliance with licensing 
conditions and legislative requirements, offering advice and guidance, as well as the 
administrative functions of processing and issuing licenses. 

1.4 The Licensing Team are responsible for the granting of licences under various legislation 
on people, places and taxis. The work includes: 

 Ensuring all licence type applications received are processed and issued within 
statutory timescales. 

 Ensuring fees are received for each licence type for applications, renewals and annual 
fees.  

 Ensuring allegations and complaints made to the Council in connection with licensable 
activities are investigated and appropriate action is taken. 

 Taking appropriate enforcement action in relation to breaches of licence conditions and 
statutory duties.  

 Preparing and presenting reports for any Licensing hearings.  
 Offer support and guidance to applicants, licensees and members of the public.  
 Working in partnership with the responsible authorities and other relevant 

organisations to protect public safety.  

~ Page 9 ~



 

 

 Formulation of policies and procedures and reviewing conditions of licences. 
 

1.5 There is a huge variety of work illustrated by the caseload from the last year:   
 
 Hackney and private hire –  this includes renewals, new applications, transfers, 

operators licenses, competency tests for drivers, DBS checks and any mandatory 
training such as child sexual exploitation – a total of 537 requests  

 Hairdressers premise licenses and personal licenses issued – 10 
 Street trading, street collection, house to house – 37 
 Tattoo parlours – 3 issued  
 Premises licenses (variations, new, temporary event notices, change in DPS) – 76 
 Animal welfare licenses – 2  

 Close contact businesses (ear piercing, electrolysis etc.) – 7 
    

2. Licensing Priorities  

2.1 The service works closely with other regulatory bodies to ensure effective coordination and 
collaboration to secure necessary regulatory compliance and outcomes. By setting out 
clear priorities and being clear on what success looks like it will: 

(i) Provide clarity to both our commitment and approach to securing effective public and 
environmental protection for those who reside, work or visit in our area, 

(ii) Provide support to businesses trading in the Borough.  

(iii) Improve regulatory outcomes without imposing unnecessary burdens  
 

2.2 Table 1 below outlines the priorities for the period 2022-2026.     

Table 1  

Priority   Why is this 
important  

Description  Performance 
measure  

Administer licensing 
functions efficiently 
and effectively. 

To ensure licence 
applications and 
associated tasks are 
dealt with in a timely 
and accurate manner.  
Using our online 
system will allow 
people to make 
payments and upload 
documents at a time 
suitable for them, 
which will also afford 
greater flexibility in 
our resourcing needs. 

Applications will be 
processed within 
statutory deadlines and 
service standards 
requirements.   

Time taken to process 
and issue licenses by 
category.  

Ensuring compliance 
with licensing 
requirements by 
delivering a 
programme of 
inspections of 
premises, people and 
vehicles. 

To protect the safety 
of people using 
licensed premises or 
vehicles and to ensure 
the licensed trade 
operates fairly.  
Improved compliance 
levels.  

Annual inspection 
schedules will be 
prepared, we will 
prioritise premises under 
the Licensing Act 2003.   
We will continue to 
carry out stop checking 
exercises for 

Achievement of 
compliance checks and 
outcomes.     

Minimum of 10% 
proactive checks and 
inspections in each 
category – for example 

~ Page 10 ~



 

 

vehicle/driver 
compliance.  Officers 
will attend all joint 
enforcement initiatives, 
such as Taxi operation 
held at East Midlands 
Airport, with other Local 
authority officers, Police, 
DVLA, VOSA, HMRC and 
immigration.  Joint 
working with Food 
Safety Officers in 
licensed premises. 

400 drivers licensed and 
40 will be randomly 
inspected  

One stop and search 
multi agency exercise 
per yea.r   

Responding to 
customer enquiries 
and complaints.  

To ensure the licensed 
trade operates fairly 
and safely. 

Ensure the public and 
businesses receive a 
‘right first time’ 
response in a timely 
way.   
Complaints will be dealt 
with in a timely manner 
in accordance with our 
service standards.  
Outcomes will be used 
to inform service 
delivery going forward. 

All customer enquiries 
will be responded to 
within 5 working days.  
 
Complaints handled in 
accordance with our 
corporate complaints 
policy.  

To deliver effective 
enforcement action 
against those 
contravening licensing 
requirements. 

To reinforce public 
confidence and 
protect the trade. 

In accordance with our 
enforcement policy, we 
will take appropriate 
enforcement action 
against those found to 
be in breach of 
regulatory 
requirements. This could 
be prosecution or 
referral to Committee or 
both. 

Number of 
contraventions recorded 
and action taken.  

All policies, conditions 
and processes are 
reviewed and kept up 
to date. 

To ensure the work 
we do remains 
relevant and legally 
compliant, reacting to 
changes in legislation 
and the wider 
economy. 

Outdated policies can 
leave the Council at risk 
given they may become 
unenforceable.   

All policies reviewed 
annually or as required 
by statute. 

 

 
 

2.3 Updates will be provided through future Licensing and Regulatory Committee reports.    

 
 

~ Page 11 ~



 

 

 

Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Thursday, 10 March 
2022 

Matter for 
Information 

 

Report Title: Regulatory Services Update (Q3 2021/22) 

Report Author(s): David Gill (Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer) 
 

Purpose of Report: This report provides an overview of the work undertaken by the 
Licensing Section for the third quarter of 2021. 

Report Summary: This report covers the standard quarterly reporting items in relation to 
taxi and private hire licensing, applications under the Licensing Act 
2003 and Gambling Act 2005 and any notable enforcement activity.  
An update is also provided in respect of other concurrent matters. 

Recommendation(s): That the contents of the report be noted. 

Senior Leadership, 
Head of Service, 
Manager, Officer and 
Other Contact(s): 

David Gill (Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer 
(0116) 257 2626 
david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk  
 
Jon Wells, Senior Strategic Development Manager 
(0116) 257 2692 
jon.wells@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

Corporate Objectives: Providing Excellent Services (CO3) 

Vision and Values: Accountability (V1) 
Teamwork (V3) 
Customer Focus (V5) 

Report Implications:- 

Legal: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Financial: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Corporate Risk 
Management: 

No corporate risk(s) identified 

Equalities and Equalities 
Assessment (EA): 

There are no implications arising from this report. 
Click to select EA screening. 
 
EA not applicable 

Human Rights: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Health and Safety: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Statutory Officers’ Comments:- 

Head of Paid Service: The report is satisfactory. 

Chief Finance Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

~ Page 12 ~

Agenda Item 9

mailto:david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:jon.wells@oadby-wigston.gov.uk


 

 

Monitoring Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Consultees: None. 

Background Papers: None.  

Appendices: None. 

 

1. Taxi Licensing Update 

1.1 The Licensing Team are progressing all applications and have re-introduced competency 
tests for taxi drivers. 

1.2 Key work areas have been working with our external auditors after implementation of the 
new licensing system, commenced preparatory work for the future implementation of 
HMRC requirements for drivers post 04 April 2022, arranging an Operators Meeting for the 
New Year, carried out a comprehensive review of all our fees and charges and collecting 
annual fees. 

2.   Highway Code Update (Effective from 29 January 2022) 
 

2.1   On 29 January 2022 the new Highway Code became effective.  There were eight major   
  changes, those being:- 
 

a) Hierarchy of road users 
b) People crossing the road at junctions 
c) Walking, cycling, or riding in shared spaces 
d) Positioning in the road when cycling 
e) Overtaking when driving or cycling 
f) People cycling at junctions 
g) People cycling, riding a horse and driving horse-drawn vehicles on roundabouts 
h) Parking, charging and leaving vehicles 

The overriding message is “Those who do greatest harm have a higher level of 
responsibility” 

2.2 As a result of the Highway Code changing, the competency test for persons wishing to 
become a driver with the Authority has been updated to include the new Highway Code 
2022. 
 

2.3 All new and renewal vehicles will be allocated stickers promoting “The Dutch Reach” 
(previously known as Sam Says) as this is now included in the parking, charging and leaving 
vehicles section of the Highway Code. 
 

3.        Taxi Licences as of 01 March 2022 

Type of Licence Number of Licence Holders 

PHV Operators 13 

Combined Drivers Licence 422 

Private Hire Vehicles 14 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle 338 

 

~ Page 13 ~



 

 

4.        Licensing Policies Under Review 

Policy Dates Action 

Scrap Metal July 2019 Under Review – HMRC requirements 

Street Trading 2023 To be reviewed 

Special Treatments October 2019 Under Review 

Animal Welfare 2020 Under Review – Registered Vets 

 

5.        Selective Licensing 

Total Scheme Engagement 

No. of Rented Properties 814 

No. of Applications Received 714 

No. of Exemptions 2 

No. of Empty Properties/Undergoing Major 
Works 

18 

Total Percentage Engagement 90% 

Total Percentage Applications 87% 
 

 
5.1      The Council is now making steady progress towards 100% engagement with the Scheme  

and have received contact from a number of landlords that are looking to purchase in the 
area with queries. To ensure ongoing compliance, we have engaged with over 135 Estate 
Agents across the City and County to ensure that they are all aware of the Scheme and 
have signed up to online marketing platforms (e.g. Gumtree) to be notified when properties 
are advertised on their platform within the designated area. 

 
5.2      Along with this, the Council have also engaged with our local land charges search providers, 

Blaby District Council, to ensure that when a conveyance for a property in South Wigston is 
undertaken, the Selective Licensing designation will be noted on the search. This should 
mean that any new purchasers are made aware of the scheme at the point of a search 
being conducted if they are not already aware. The team is also working with IT and 
Systems Support to try and find easier ways for landlords to engage with us, including the 
introduction of a dedicated contact number for Selective Licensing ad also introducing on-
line enquiry forms accessible directly from the website. 

          

Licences Issued 

Pending 180 

Issued 521 

Withdrawn 13 
 

 
5.3      There has been a significant effort made to issue licences as quickly as possible, and a full  

review of pending licences is being undertaken and landlords contacted by phone to request 
any outstanding documents. If the landlords still do not provide these documents, they will 
then be issued with Notices of Intent to serve a financial penalty to the value of £1,500 for 
failing to make a due application.  

~ Page 14 ~



 

 

 
5.4      There have been a few applications withdrawn. This is due to the landlords selling the 

property during the term of the licence. Where a licence has been issued but the 
enforcement fee is yet to be paid, the Authority has retained the application fee and have 
waived the enforcement fee. These landlords have been advised to retain the licence 
document they were issued to protect them against retrospective rent repayment order 
applications. Where properties are being sold, we are following up to confirm if the property 
is being occupied by the owner or is being re-let. An inspection schedule is being developed 
ready for the end of March 2022 with the general outline being that we will prioritise 
properties where we have existing cases and with a lower EPC to target a worst first 
approach.  
 
The Council have made some pro-active visits to large block properties within the 
designated area that we are aware have had issues in the past and we have engaged with 
the owners and have an ongoing narrative with them. 

 
5.5      Enforcement Action 
 

The Council currently have 80 Notices of Intent for failure to licence issued. Once the final 
notice is issued these will carry a penalty of £30,000 for failure to licence, once the notices 
for failure to make a due application begin to be issued, these will be noted separately. 

 

Enforcement Action 

Total Notices of Intent Issued 80 

Failure to Licence 80 
 

 
5.6      Income 
 
           Total Income:  £516,149.01 
 
6.        Environmental Health Update 
 
6.1      Business support continues, particularly with risk assessments and advice for businesses as  
          part of our roadmap for recovery following the pandemic.   
 
6.2      Day to day work is varied and busy with duties wide ranging. These included attending an 

exhumation of a body to ensure respect for the deceased person is maintained and that 
public health is protected, investigating and processing welfare burials, pursuing a 
significant industrial noise complaint one where considerable mitigation work has been 
negotiated and where the situation has vastly improved and progressing a large fly tip of 
confidential waste to a PACE caution interview.   

 
6.3      Advice is being given for the safe use of Council owned buildings/assets and for those  

Committee meetings where public attendance is anticipated. Work continues with our 
Health Improvement Team to promote the importance and uptake of vaccines with our hard 
to reach communities. We support our work in communities to promote active travel.   
 

6.4      Air Quality 
 
6.4.1   Monitoring of air quality continues in the Borough using passive diffusion tubes (used as a 

benchmark to indicate whether air pollution is getting better or worse) and real time 
analysers. The data is showing common seasonal variation (autumn/winter increases) with 
peaks of note along the A6 and Blaby Road, South Wigston. All mean levels for nitrogen 

~ Page 15 ~



 

 

dioxide are still below the national objective of 40µg/m3 (annual mean) meaning there is 
currently no requirement to award an AQMA.   
 

6.4.2    During lockdown, particularly in 2020, levels fell by half because of reduced traffic  
movements.   

 
6.4.3    The Council continues to work with Leicester City Council on monitoring small particulates 

 (those of less than 10- and 2.5-microns diameter) along the A6. 
 
6.4.4   When new developments are proposed there is a process in place to discuss this with the   

planning officers. Developer contributions are sought where air quality is a 
consideration.      

 
7.       Food Safety Update 
 
7.1      The Council are continuing to follow The Food Standards Agency (FSA) COVID recovery  

framework plan. In the plan it sets out the minimum expectations for us to achieve. Since 

October 2021, we have moved onto phase 2 of the plan which runs to 2022-2023.  

 

7.2      A grant of £1,793 was successfully bid for and obtained from the Food Standards Agency  

to triage all our new 96 food businesses established since the first lockdown.   

 

7.3      The work was required to ensure all new businesses could be programmed into our  

Routine Inspection Schedule on the basis of risk. Inspections have commenced according to 

the Food Service Delivery Plan and are on track with support being provided to ensure this 

can continue pending the recruitment to the vacant Environmental Health Officer post.    

 

7.4      The key priorities for phase 2 are to achieve high risk inspections, to undertake triage of all 

newly registered food businesses, and to deal with any reactive work. It is risk based to 

safeguard public health.    

 

7.5      Since April 2021, the Council received 115 new registrations. To date 110 have been 

Triaged and 56 have also been inspected, exceeding the minimum expectations of the 

FSA. This has only been possible by the added resources of two local EHO’s who have been 

undertaking physical inspections.  

 

7.6     High Risk Businesses 

 

   (In the framework A’s are classed as high risk, however we have classed our B’s into this as  

   some are Care Homes or have a Food Hygiene Score of 3 or below) 

 

A)    Inspected every 6 months:     0 

B)    Inspected every 12 months:   11 (9 have been inspected) 

C)    Outstanding and to be completed by 31/03/2022 

 

 The 2 high risk businesses (B’S).  

 The 5 outstanding new businesses to be triaged.   

 The outstanding new businesses, 20 have been allocated to the two local EHO’s. 

 The remaining 34 new businesses inspections will continue to be reduced, to try and 

reduce the number to below 10, however this will depend on any reactive work. 

 

8.       Dog Contract Update 

 

8.1      The contract for providing the dog control service has been extended until March 2023 with 

~ Page 16 ~



 

 

no increase in charges. In 2020-21, 5 dogs were seized as strays and taken to the kennels. 
This is a reduction on previous years due to the Covid Pandemic ‘lock downs’ with more 
members of the public working from home. Also, as a consequence of the various lock 
downs, routine patrolling of the Borough was not possible and has only recently been fully 
restored. 

 
8.2      No FPN’s were issued for dog fouling during this period and 36 requests were made for  

footpath stencilling across the Borough.   
 
8.3      Going forward, the team is working with the contract provider to facilitate a free micro  

chipping event during the summer. 
    

 

~ Page 17 ~



 

 

 

Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Thursday, 10 March 
2022 

Matter for 
Information and 

Decision 

 

Report Title: Statement of Gambling Policy (2022-2025)    

Report Author(s): Jon Wells, Senior Strategic Development Manager  
 

Purpose of Report: To consider the draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2022-2025 (“the 
Policy”) so the final document can be considered at Full Council on 5 
April 2022.      

Report Summary: The current Policy expires in 2022 and it is essential that this is 
refreshed and updated to ensure the effective ongoing regulation of 
gambling. An updated draft version is attached at Appendix A which is 
currently out to consultation and this gives a framework that 
applicants can use when formulating an application as well as giving 
an overview of how the Council will determine applications.     

Recommendation(s): A. That the Draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2022-2025 
be approved and its adoption recommended to Full Council 
subject to any amendments arising from the consultation 
process; and 

B. That delegated authority be granted to the Head of Law 
and Democracy to consider any other amendments as may 
be necessary in consultation with the Chair of Licensing & 
Regulatory Committee.   

Senior Leadership, 
Head of Service, 
Manager, Officer and 
Other Contact(s): 

David Gill (Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer) 
(0116) 257 2626 
david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk  
 
Jon Wells (Senior Strategic Development Manager)  
(0116) 257 2692 
jon.wells@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

Corporate Objectives: Providing Excellent Services (CO3) 

Vision and Values: Accountability (V1) 
Customer Focus (V5) 

Report Implications:- 

Legal: Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 imposes a statutory 
requirement on the Council (as the Licensing Authority) to prepare 
and publish a ‘Statement of Principles’ (known as a Policy) once every 
three years. Following public consultation, any amendments to the 
Policy are required to be considered at this Committee and then 
approved by Full Council. Section 349(2) of the Gambling Act 2005 
allows the Licensing Authority to review its Statement/Policy from 
time to time. The Gambling Act 2005 (Licensing Authority Policy 
Statement) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 sets out the legal 
requirement and procedure for drafting and preparing the 

~ Page 18 ~

Agenda Item 10

mailto:david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:jon.wells@oadby-wigston.gov.uk


 

 

Statement/Policy and any revisions to this which must be considered 
and adhered to. 

Financial: There are no implications directly arising from this report. 

Corporate Risk 
Management: 

Regulatory Governance (CR6) 
Reputation Damage (CR4) 

Equalities and Equalities 
Assessment (EA): 

Gambling Act 2005 applications and notifications are not assessed 
based on the characteristics of the applicant; they are issued in 
accordance with the law and depend on the application being 
correctly submitted. 

Human Rights: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Health and Safety: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Statutory Officers’ Comments:- 

Head of Paid Service: The report is satisfactory. 

Chief Finance Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Monitoring Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Consultees: As detailed in Appendix 2 of the draft Statement of Gambling Policy 
2022-2025. 

Background Papers: None.  

Appendices: 1. Draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2022-2025    

 

1.      Introduction 
 
1.1 Under section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 (the Act), Licensing Authorities are 

required to prepare and publish a policy which they intend to apply when exercising 
their functions under the Act.   

 
2.      Policy review  

  
2.1 The Act requires the Council to review such policies every three years.  The current 

policy has been reviewed and updated and a draft is provided at Appendix A.  
 

2.2 There has been very little in the way of major reviews of the legislation since the start 
of the current policy and consequently the draft policy is fundamentally unchanged.  
The main changes are therefore focussed on local information and the local area profile 
of gambling premises.   

 
2.3 The Act requires that the proposed Policy is subject to wide consultation.  Consultation 

therefore commenced on 28 February 2022 for four weeks, ending on 28 March 2022.   
 

2.4 Should any representations be made after the consultation is closed, it is proposed they 
are resolved by delegated authority.   

 
2.5 The final draft of the Policy will be taken to Council on 5 April 2022 for approval.  Once 

approved it must be published four weeks prior to coming into force. 

~ Page 19 ~



 

 

 

~ Page 20 ~



 

  

 

 

 

 

 
STATEMENT OF GAMBLING 

POLICY 2022-2025 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

OADBY & WIGSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Policy Version Number: 1.0          
Policy Author: Jon Wells 
Committee Approval:  
Date of Policy Review: 2025 
 

~ Page 21 ~

Appendix 1



 

2 
 

 

   
 

 

 

Appendices  
Appendix 1: Map of the Borough of Oadby and Wigston 
Appendix 2: List of Bodies Consulted 
 
 

 

 

 

  

  Page Number 
PART 1.0: Foreword 3 
PART 2.0: Introduction 3 
PART 3.0: Declaration 4 
PART 4.0: Licensing Objectives 4 
PART 5.0: Responsible Authorities 4 
PART 6.0: Interested Parties 5 
PART 7.0: Information Exchange 6 
PART 8.0: Licensing Authority Functions 6 
PART 9.0: Local Risk Assessments  7 
PART 10.0: Local Area Profile 7 
PART 11.0: Registers 8 
PART 12.0: General Statement of Principles 9 
PART 13.0: Consultation 10 
PART 14.0: Period of Validity and Review 10 
PART 15.0: Conditions 10 
PART 16.0: Legislation and Strategies 11 
PART 17.0: Promotion of Equality 11 
PART 18.0: Disabled Access 12 
PART 19.0: Relationship with Planning 12 
PART 20.0: Decision Making 13 
PART 21.0: Promotion of Licensing Objectives 14 
PART 22.0: Types of Licence 15 
PART 23.0: Reviews 28 
PART 24.0: Permits and Registrations 29 
PART 25.0: Enforcement 31 
PART 26.0: Complaints against licensed premises 32 
PART 27.0: Further information 32 

Contents 

~ Page 22 ~



 

3 
 

 

The Gambling Act has been in force since 2006 and this is 6th edition of Oadby and Wigston Borough 

Council’s statement of Licensing Principles. 

A Licensing Authority is required to prepare and publish a Statement of Licensing Policy. From the 

inception of the Act, the Policy has aided the promotion of the main licensing objectives, these are: 

1. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being associated with crime 

or disorder or being used to support crime 

2. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way  

3. Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling 

The Licensing Authority has considered and evaluated the effectiveness of the previous policy and 

with partners has decided which elements of the Policy should be retained. 

The Policy will be consulted on with stakeholders and the intention is to formally adopt it from April 

2022. 

 

 

 
 
Oadby & Wigston Borough Council is the Licensing Authority under the Gambling Act 2005 (“the 

Act”) and this Statement of Gambling Policy is intended to meet the Council’s obligations under 

Section 349 of the Act. The Licensing Authority is responsible for granting a variety of permissions 

under the Act within the Oadby & Wigston Borough. The Licensing Authority also has a role 

alongside the Gambling Commission in regulating gambling within the area. 

‘Gambling’ is defined in the Act as either gaming, betting or taking part in a lottery. 

 Gaming means playing a game of chance for a prize 

 Betting means making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, competition, or any 

other event; the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring; or whether anything is 

true or not 

 A lottery is where persons are required to pay in order to take part in an arrangement 

during the course of which one or more prizes are allocated by a process which relies wholly 

on chance 

The Borough of Oadby & Wigston 

Oadby and Wigston is a Borough Council based in South East Leicestershire which is one of the 

smallest in the Country in terms of both population and area. Despite this the area contains a wealth 

of activity and resource for people of all ages, ethnicity, and gender. 

1.0 Foreword 

2.0 Introduction 

~ Page 23 ~



 

4 
 

The Borough is principally a residential area which consists of 3 towns, Oadby, Wigston and South 

Wigston covering an area of 9 square miles (2,436 hectares). The 2020 population estimate of the 

Borough showed an estimated population of 57,313.   

Residents are well provided for by a wide range of shopping facilities, leisure activities by both public 

and private facilities with Community Colleges offering extended access to educational resources to 

the public. Leicester University has various Halls of Residence and other educational facilities within 

the district. 

The majority of factories and industrial buildings are located on industrial estates with a wide variety 

of manufacturing activity; such as hosiery, footwear, general engineering, and printing and food 

products. 

 

 

 

In producing the statement of Gambling Policy, the Licensing Authority declares that it has regard to 

the licensing objectives of the Act, the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, and any 

responses from those consulted on the policy statement. 

It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any person to make an 

application, make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence, as each 

will be considered on its own merits and according to the statutory requirements of the Act. 

 

 

 

In exercising most of their functions the Licensing Authority will have regard to the licensing 

objectives as set out in section 1 of the Act. 

The licensing objectives are: 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime 

or disorder or being used to support crime 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling. 

 

 

These are generally public bodies that must be notified of applications and who are entitled to make 

representations to the Licensing Authority if they are relevant to the licensing objectives. 

3.0 Declaration 

4.0 Licensing Objectives 

5.0 Responsible Authorities 

~ Page 24 ~



 

5 
 

Section 157 of the Act defines those authorities as :- 

 The Gambling Commission 

 The Police 

 The Fire Service 

 The local planning authority 

 Environmental health 

 HM revenue and Customs 

 A licensing authority in whose area the premises is situated 

 The Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Board 

In accordance with Section 157(h) the Licensing Authority designates the Leicestershire Police to 

advise the authority on child protection issues. 

It should also be noted that applications for some types of permit will also need to be sent to some 

of the above authorities. 

 

 

 

 

An interested party can make representations about a licence application or apply for a review of an 

existing licence and is defined by Section 158 of the Act as someone who: 

 lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities, 

or 

 has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 

 represents persons in either of the two groups above (see notes below) 

In determining whether someone lives sufficiently close to a particular premise so as to be affected 

the Licensing Authority will take into account, among other things: 

 the size of the premises 

 the nature of the premises 

 the distance of the premises from the person making the representation 

 the nature of the complainant 

 the potential impact of the premises 

NB Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as Councillors and MP’s.  

Other than these persons, this authority will require written evidence that a person ‘represents’ 

someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises, and/or has business interests that might 

be affected by the authorised activities. A letter from one of these persons requesting the 

representation is sufficient. 

This authority will not generally view bodies such as trade associations and trade unions, and 

residents’ and tenants’ associations as interested parties unless they have a member who can be 

6.0 Interested Parties 

~ Page 25 ~



 

6 
 

classed as one under the terms of the Gambling Act 2005 e.g. lives sufficiently close to the premises 

to be likely to be affected by the activities being applied for. 

Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply a rigid rule to its decision 

making.  It will consider the examples of considerations provided in the Gambling Commission’s 

Guidance to local authorities. 

 

  

 

 

In fulfilling its functions and obligations under the Act the Licensing Authority will exchange relevant 

information with other regulatory bodies and will establish protocols in this respect.  In exchanging 

such information, the Licensing Authority will conform to the requirements of data protection and 

freedom of information legislation in accordance with the Council’s existing policies. 

Details of those persons making representations will be made available to applicants to allow for 

negotiation and, in the event of a hearing being held, will form part of a public document.  Anyone 

making representations or applying for the review of a premises licence will be informed that their 

details will be disclosed. 

 

 

 

The main functions of the Licensing Authority are to: 

 License premises for gambling activities 

 Grant permits for gambling and gaming machines in clubs 

 Regulate gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises 

 grant permits to family entertainment centres for the use of certain lower stake gaming 

machines 

 grant permits for prize gaming 

 consider notices given for the temporary use of premises for gaming 

 consider occasional use notices for betting at tracks 

 register small societies lotteries 

 provide information to the Gambling Commission and HM Revenue and Customs 

 maintain registers of licences, permits and registrations 

 

 

 

 

7.0 Information Exchange 

8.0 Licensing Authority Functions 

~ Page 26 ~



 

7 
 

 

The Gambling Commissions Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP issued October 2020) 

requires operators to consider local risks in their applications. 

As part of the application process licensees are required to submit a local risk assessment when 

applying for a new premises licence. An exception to this may be Racing Tracks, as they are not 

required to have an operating licence unless they are providing facilities for betting themselves. An 

updated risk assessment must be submitted: 

 When applying for a variation of a premises licence 

 To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those identified in a 

licensing authority policy statement 

 When there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their mitigation 

of local risks. 

The Licensing Authority may require a licensee to share their risk assessment with the authority. The 

risk assessment will set out the measures the licensee has in place to address specific issues where 

concerns exist over new of existing risks. Adopting a proactive approach Licensing Authorities and 

licensees should be able to reduce the occasions on which a premises review is required. 

 

 

 

The following local area profile has been included to facilitate operators being able to understand 

the environment for the Oadby and Wigston Borough, therefore proactively alleviate risks to the 

licensing objectives. 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council have a total of 7 gambling premises licences. The number, and 

make-up, of current licences remains the same since the last policy edition. 

The Breakdown 

By Premises 

 

  

Bingo 0  

Adult Gaming Centres 0  

Betting (on course) 1  

Betting 6  

 

 

 

 

  

9.0 Local Risk Assessments 

10.0 Local Area Profile 

~ Page 27 ~



 

8 
 

By Location 

 

  

Oadby Town Centre 1 Racecourse 2 Betting premises 

Wigston Town Centre 3 Betting Premises  

South Wigston Town Centre 1 Betting premises  

 

In Oadby Town Centre there are 2 betting premises with 5 Primary Schools located within 5 miles, a 

figure which has remained consistent since the inception of the Act. 

Betting premises can also be found in Wigston and the smaller community of South Wigston. 

Leicester Racecourse is situated alongside the A6 carriageway to Market Harborough and is only 

open for gambling activities on race days. Although the venue is on the whole marketed as a family 

venue it goes without saying that the premises will attract a larger proportion of gamblers. It is 

considered that under age gambling would be a low risk as younger people are more likely to be 

present with their parents. 

The district remains without any bingo premises and as there are only two bingo premises in the 

whole of greater Leicester it could be assumed that there isn’t enough demand for further expansion 

in this form of gambling.  Should a bingo hall be developed in the area during the life time of this 

document arrangements will be made to ensure that it has a low impact on the life of the district. 

During the short term it is deemed that Oadby and Wigston Borough is low risk for underage and 

problem gambling and although the population of the borough is set to rise significantly the focus of 

gambling as a leisure time pursuit will always be the larger Leicester City district. 

In relation to the use of B2 or Fixed Odds betting terminals (FOBT), by licensing enforcement officers 

have highlighted a high level of compliance by the industry and this is backed up by the historically 

low, almost nil, complaints received about individual premises. Oadby and Wigston Borough will 

endeavour and continue to monitor and ensure high compliance levels are maintained 

 

 

 

The Licensing Authority keeps registers of the premises licences it has issued.  They can be viewed at 

the Council’s offices during normal office hours 8.30am – 5pm.  Copies of the register can be 

requested but a charge will be administered. 

 

  

11.0 Registers 

~ Page 28 ~



 

9 
 

 

The Act provides for three categories of licence 

 Operating Licences 

 Personal Licences 

 Premises licences 

In general terms, the Gambling Commission is responsible for issuing Operating Licences and 

Personal Licences.  The Licensing Authority is responsible for issuing Premises Licences. In addition 

to Premises Licences the Licensing Authority is also responsible for granting permits, temporary and 

occasional use notices and registrations under the Act. In specific terms Oadby & Wigston Borough 

Council is the local Licensing Authority. 

This Policy sets out principles that the Licensing Authority will apply when making decisions upon 

applications or notifications made for:- 

 Premises Licences 

 Temporary and Occasional Use Notices 

 Permits as required under the Act 

 Registrations as required under the Act 

The Licensing Authority, when making decisions about Premises Licences, is required by Section 153 

of the Act to aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is: 

 In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission 

 In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

 Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 

 In accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy 

The Licensing Authority recognises the wide variety of premises that will require a licence or a 

permit. These include casinos, bingo halls, betting shops, pubs, clubs and amusement arcades. 

To ensure the licensing objectives are met the Licensing Authority will establish a close working 

relationship with the police, the Gambling Commission and, where appropriate other responsible 

authorities. 

This Licensing Authority will not seek to use the Act to resolve matters more readily which can be 

dealt with under other legislation. 

The overriding principle is that each application and the circumstances prevailing at each premises 

will be considered on their own merits. 

 

 

 

 

12.0 General Statement of Principles 

~ Page 29 ~



 

10 
 

 

 In developing this Statement the Licensing Authority has consulted with the groups set out below, 

 Leicestershire Constabulary 

 Representatives of the holders of the various licences for premises within the Borough who 

will be affected by this policy 

 Persons/bodies representing the interests of persons likely to be affected by this policy 

 Other responsible authorities/groups that the Licensing Authority considers appropriate. 

 

 

 

This statement of licensing policy will come into effect on 5 April 2022 and will be valid for three 

years. 

The policy will be kept under review during the period of validity and if necessary amendments 

made. 

Before a new policy is adopted or amendments made to the existing one the Licensing Authority will 

undertake consultation in accordance with Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005. 

 

 

 

The starting point in determining applications will be to grant the application without conditions.  

Conditions will only be considered where they are needed to meet the requirements of the licensing 

objectives.  When considering any conditions to be attached to licences, the Licensing Authority will 

primarily focus on the direct impact of the activities taking place at licensed premises on members of 

the public living, working or engaged in normal activity in the area concerned. Premises licences are 

already subject to mandatory and default conditions provided by regulations issued by the Secretary 

of State. 

Licensing authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also attach others, where it is 

believed to be appropriate. 

Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be: 

 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility; 

 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 

 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and 

 reasonable in all other respects. 

13.0 Consultation 

14.0 Period of Validity and Review 

15.0 Conditions 

~ Page 30 ~



 

11 
 

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although there will be a 

number of control measures this licensing authority will consider utilising should there be evidence 

of a risk to the licensing objectives, such as the use of door supervisors, supervision of adult gaming 

machines, appropriate signage for adult only areas and betting machines in licensed betting 

premises. The Council will not impose further conditions relating to door supervisors at a Betting 

Track, as they are already required by the Licensing Act 2003 and the Private Security Industry Act 

2001 to provide licensed door supervisors in some roles. 

The overriding principle is that each application and the circumstances prevailing at each premises 

will be considered on their own merits. 

 

 

 

In undertaking its licensing function under the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing Authority is also 

bound by other legislation. 

However, the policy is not intended to duplicate existing legislation and regulation regimes that 

already place obligations on employers and operators. 

The Licensing Authority will seek to discharge its responsibilities identified by other national and 

local strategies and policies, in so far as they impact on the objectives of the licensing function. The 

licensing authority also recognises the importance of co-ordination and integration of the Gambling 

Policy with these strategies and policies. 

The Licensing Authority, in undertaking its licensing function, will have due regard to the need to 

eliminate unlawful discrimination and to promote equality and good relations between persons of 

different racial groups. 

 

 

 

In developing this strategy, the Licensing Authority has recognised its responsibility under the Race 

Relations Act 1976 (as amended), to consider the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination and to 

promote equal opportunity and good race relations between persons of different racial groups. This 

Licensing Policy therefore supports and is supported by the Licensing Authority’s Multi-Cultural 

Aims. 

The Licensing Authority also recognises that this policy should promote equality in a wider sense and 

has therefore assessed the potential impact on disadvantaged groups in general, as well as from a 

race equality perspective. It has considered and consulted with this in mind. 

16.0 Legislation and Strategies 

17.0 Promotion of Equality 

~ Page 31 ~



 

12 
 

The following actions, which have been identified as being necessary to promote equality, and 

within the scope of the Act and supporting guidance, will be implemented by the Licensing 

Authority: 

 The Licensing Policy and associated documents will be available on the internet, and in other 

formats upon request. 

 The licensing objective of protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 

harmed or exploited by gambling will be promoted. 

 Support will be offered to licence applicants, licence holders and potential objectors who are 

socially excluded. 

 Account will be taken of the effect of specific applications on community cohesion, including 

the need to balance the benefits of cultural and community activities with limited local 

disturbance. 

 Action will be taken to endeavour to ensure the safety of vulnerable people in licensed 

premises. 

 Action will be taken to ensure that all applications, particularly those for disadvantaged 

groups, are dealt with fairly. 

The Licensing Authority is aware that there may be particular sensitivities of certain buildings, for 

example religious buildings, to certain gambling activities taking place in close proximity.  Where this 

proximity has an impact on the promotion of one of the licensing objectives this is a matter for the 

Licensing Authority. Where the impact does not affect the promotion of the licensing objectives, 

there may be other control mechanisms, such as the planning system, that could be applicable. 

 

 

 

The guidance supporting the Act advises that conditions relating to disabled access should not be 

attached to licences, as this would duplicate existing statutory requirements. The Licensing Authority 

therefore takes this opportunity to remind operators of premises of their duties under the Equality 

Act 2010. This includes a duty that any person who provides a service to the public must make 

reasonable adjustments to any physical feature that makes it impossible or unreasonably difficult for 

a disabled person to access a service, or to provide the service by a reasonable alternative means. 

 

 

 

When considering applications for premises licences the Licensing Authority cannot take into 

consideration “irrelevant matters” such as the expected ‘demand’ for facilities, the likelihood of 

planning permission being granted or building control approval. 

18.0 Disabled Access 

19.0 Relationship with Planning 

~ Page 32 ~



 

13 
 

An applicant can apply for a “provisional statement” if the building is not complete or if he does not 

yet have a right to occupy it. Such an application is however a separate and distinct process to the 

granting of planning permission or building control approval. 

The lack of planning permission does not prevent an applicant from applying for a premises licence 

and does not preclude an application for a premises licence being granted. The Licensing Authority is 

required to consider each application on its merits. 

The Gambling Commissions guidance to Licensing Authorities advises that when granting a licence 

the licensing authority must be satisfied that the premises are going to be ready to be used for 

gambling in the near future. 

Where planning permission has not been obtained to use the premises for gambling the Licensing 

Authority must be satisfied as a matter of fact and degree in the particular circumstances of that 

case that the premises is not ready to be used for gaming. In such instances the Licensing Authority 

may feel that granting the licence would not promote the licensing objectives. 

The Licensing Authority therefore recommends that when planning permission has not been 

obtained applicants apply for a provisional licence. 

 

 

 

The Council’s Licensing Officers will deal with all licensing applications where either no 

representations have been received, or where representations have been received and it is agreed 

by the parties that a hearing is not necessary. 

A Licensing Sub-Committee of three Councillors will sit to hear applications where representations 

have been received from interested parties and/or Responsible Authorities.  Ward Councillors will 

not sit on a Sub-Committee involving an application within their ward. 

Where a Councillor who is a member of the Licensing Committee is making or has made 

representations regarding a licence on behalf of an interested party, in the interests of good 

governance they will disqualify themselves from any involvement in the decision making process 

affecting the licence in questions. 

Decisions as to whether representations are irrelevant, frivolous or vexatious will be made by 

Council Officers, who will make the decision on whether representations or applications for licence 

review should be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee.  Where representations are rejected, the 

person making that representation will be given written reasons as to why that are the case.  There 

is no right of appeal against a determination that representations are not admissible. 

The current scheme of delegations in relation to the Gambling Act can be found in the Council’s 

Constitution. 

 

20.0 Decision Making 

~ Page 33 ~



 

14 
 

 

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder 

The Gambling Commission will play a leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of 

crime and will maintain rigorous licensing procedures that aim to prevent criminals from providing 

facilities for gambling. 

The Council places a considerable importance on the prevention of crime and disorder, and will fulfil 

its duty under s17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime 

and disorder in the borough.  A high standard of control is therefore expected to be exercised over 

licensed premises. 

The Council will, when determining applications, consider whether the grant of a Premises Licence 

will result in an increase in crime and disorder. 

Applicants are encouraged to discuss the crime prevention procedures in their premises with the 

Council’s Licensing Officers and Leicestershire Constabulary before making a formal application. 

Applicants for a premises licence will have to be granted an Operating Licence by the Gambling 

Commission before a premises licence can be issued. Operators will already have satisfied the 

Gambling Commission that they have policies in place that promote the licensing objectives. 

The Licensing Authority would not intend to duplicate these policies as conditions on the premises 

licence, but they and the responsible authorities, may wish to know how such policies will be put in 

place at the premises. 

Where concerns about a person’s suitability arise the Council will bring those concerns to the 

attention of the Commission. 

As far as disorder is concerned, there are already powers in existing anti-social behaviour and 

licensing legislation to deal with measures designed to prevent nuisance, whether it arises as a result 

of noise from a building or from general disturbance once people have left a building. The Council 

does not therefore intend to use the Act to deal with general nuisance issues 

The Council will only seek to address issues of disorder under the Act if the disorder amounts to 

activity which is more serious and disruptive than mere nuisance. A disturbance could be serious 

enough to constitute disorder if police assistance was required to deal with it. Another factor the 

Council is likely to take into account is how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see or 

hear it, whether those people live sufficiently close to be affected or have business interests that 

might be affected. 

When making decisions in this regard the Licensing Authority will give due weight to any comments 

made by the police. 

Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

The Gambling Commission does not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with ensuring 

that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way. This will be a matter for either the management 

21.0 Promotion of Licensing Objectives 

~ Page 34 ~



 

15 
 

of the gambling business or will be in relation to the suitability and actions of an individual. Both 

issues will be addressed by the Commission through the operating and personal licensing regime. 

Because betting track operators do not need an operating licence from the Commission the 

Licensing Authority may, in certain circumstances require conditions of licence to ensure that the 

environment in which betting takes place is suitable. 

Protecting children and other vulnerable people from gambling 

The access of children and young person’s to those gambling premises which are adult only 

environments will not be permitted. The Gambling Commission has issued a number of Codes of 

Practices for each sector of the gaming industry in ensuring that children and young person’s do not 

access adult only environments. 

The Licensing Authority will consider whether any measures are necessary to protect children when 

considering whether to grant a premises licence or permit. The Licensing Authority may also wish to 

see evidence from the operator of how any code of practice will be complied with in respect of the 

premises in question. 

In seeking to protect vulnerable people the licensing authority will include people who gamble more 

than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means, and people who may not be able to 

make informed or balanced decisions about gambling, perhaps due to a mental impairment, alcohol 

or drugs. 

The Council will consult with the Leicestershire Police on any application that indicates there may be 

concerns over access for children or vulnerable persons 

The Licensing Authority will always treat each case on its own individual merits and when 

considering whether specific measures are required to protect children and other vulnerable people 

will balance its considerations against the overall principle of aiming to permit the use of premises 

for gambling. 

Applicants for premises licences are required to hold an operator’s licence granted by the Gambling 

Commission before trading under a premises licence. All applicants for Premises Licences will be 

required to set out how they will promote the licensing objectives and what measures they intend to 

employ to ensure compliance with them. 

 

 

 

Casinos 

There are currently no casinos operating within the Borough. 

The Licensing Authority has not passed a ‘no casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling 

Act 2005, but is aware that it has the power to do so. 

22.0 Types of Licence 

~ Page 35 ~



 

16 
 

Should the licensing authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, this will be a resolution 

of Full Council following a considered debate, and the reasons for making this resolution will be 

given. 

There is no right of appeal against this resolution. 

 

Adult Gaming Centres 

Premises licensed as an Adult Gaming Centre are permitted to provide an unlimited amount of 

category D and C machines and up to 20 percent of the total machines can be category B machines. 

Persons under the age of 18 years old are not permitted to enter an Adult Gaming Centre.  The need 

to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm and/or being exploited by gambling is a an 

important licensing objective. Before granting a premises licence the Licensing Authority will need to 

be satisfied that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 

access to the premises. 

The Licensing Authority recommends that any premises licensed for gambling purposes adopts a 

policy of requiring proof of age from any person where there is any doubt as to whether they are 

over 18. The authority would suggest as best practice, that proof of age could be in the form of a 

passport, photographic driving licence, or a proof of age card complying with the Proof of Age 

Standards Scheme (PASS) launched in January 2003 by the British Retail Consortium. 

As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, the licensing authority will consider measures such 

as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for 

organisations such as GamCare. 

 

Betting Premises (off-course) 

Off course betting premises are any premises licensed to accept bets that are not situated at a track. 

Children and Young persons are not permitted to enter a Betting Premises, and the Authority would 

need to see appropriate measures in place to be satisfied that children and young persons will not 

gain access to the premises. 

The Licensing Authority is aware of its power to restrict the number of betting machines, their 

nature and the circumstances in which they are made available by attaching a licence condition to a 

betting premises licence or to a casino premises licence (where betting is permitted in the casino) 

In the event that the Authority considers whether to impose such a condition on any particular 

licence it may, among other things, take into account the size of the premises, the number of 

counter positions available for person to person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the 

use of the machines by children and young persons or by vulnerable persons. 

~ Page 36 ~



 

17 
 

As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, this licensing authority will consider measures such 

as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for 

organisations such as GamCare. 

 

Family Entertainment Centres (licensed) 

A family entertainment centre is permitted to provide any number of category C and category D 

machines. Category D machines can be played by children and young persons but not category C 

machines. 

This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 

persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the 

authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access 

to the adult only gaming machine areas.  It is a requirement that category C machines are 

segregated from D machines so that there is no access to them by children. 

As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, this licensing authority will consider measures such 

as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for 

organisations such as GamCare. 

This licensing authority will, refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to 

operator licences covering the way in which certain areas of the premises should be delineated.  This 

licensing authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or default conditions on these 

premises licences, when they have been published. 

 

Bingo Premises 

The primary purpose of a Bingo premises licence is to permit the premises to be used for the playing 

of Bingo. Bingo premises are permitted to make any number of C and D machines available for use 

and up to 20 percent of the total machines can be category B machines. 

Where children and young persons are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo the operator 

must ensure that they do not participate in any gambling other than on category D machines. Where 

category C or above machines are available in premises to which children and young person are 

admitted the Licensing Authority will require that 

 All such machines are located in an area of the premises separated from the remainder of 

the premises by a physical barrier which is affective to prevent access other than through a 

designated area; 

 Only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 

 Access to the area where machines are located is supervised; 

 The area where machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by staff of the 

operator or the licence holder; and 

~ Page 37 ~



 

18 
 

 At the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access to the area is strictly prohibited to persons under 18. 

The Licensing Authority will take into account guidance issued about the particular issues that 

licensing authorities should take into account in relation to the suitability and layout of bingo 

premises. 

 

Tracks 

Tracks are defined under the Act as “a horse race course, greyhound track or other premises on any 

part of which a race or other sporting event takes place or is intended to take place”. Examples of 

tracks include: 

 A horse racecourse 

 A greyhound track 

 A point to point horse race meeting 

 Football, cricket and rugby grounds 

 An athletics stadium 

 A golf course 

 Venues hosting darts, bowls or snooker tournaments 

 Premises staging boxing matches 

 Sections of river hosting a fishing competition 

 A motor racing event 

This list is not exhaustive, but gives an example of the types of venue which could accommodate the 

provision of betting facilities. 

There are three types of authorisation under which betting facilities may be made available at a 

sporting event: 

 An occasional use notice 

 A temporary use notice and 

 A track premises licence. 

Betting in relation to tracks may be provided either as on course, or off course betting. The different 

types of betting are explained in detail in the Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, and an 

up to date excerpt of this guidance is published at www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk. As 

discussed previously Oadby & Wigston Borough Council is home to Leicester Racecourse which 

makes the provisions in the section of the policy more relevant. 

A betting premises licence permits premises to be used for the provision of facilities for betting, 

whether by: 

 Making or accepting bets 

 Acting as a betting intermediary; or 

 Providing other facilities for the making or accepting of bets. 

~ Page 38 ~

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


 

19 
 

Tracks are the only class of premises that may be subject to more than one premises licence, 

provided that each licence relates to a specific area of the track. This allows track venues to develop 

leisure facilities such as a casino and apply for a (casino) premises licence for that part of the track. 

There is no special class of betting Premises Licence for a track, but the Act does contain rules which 

apply specifically to Premises Licences granted in respect of tracks. 

Special rules apply to applicants for a Premises Licence in relation to a track. Most importantly the 

applicant need not hold an Operator licence. That is because, unless the occupier of the track wishes 

to offer pool betting (or general betting) facilities himself (for which he will need a licence) the 

betting that is provided upon the track will not be provided by him, but will be provided by other 

operators who come on-course. Since those people will require the necessary Operator Licences, the 

Act allows the track operator to obtain a Premises Licence without also having to hold an Operator 

Licence. This track Premises Licence then authorises anyone upon the premises with a valid Operator 

Licence to offer betting facilities. 

Track premises licences are distinguished from all other premises licences because children and 

young persons are allowed to be present on the track while betting is taking place on those licensed 

premises. 

Track premises that safeguard the achievement of the three licensing objectives may generally be 

considered fit for gambling. By using the following general principles licensing authorities can 

establish whether a track is fit for provision of gambling facilities:- 

Licensing 

objective 

 

Issues to consider Reason to consider a track 

premises unfit for gambling 

purposes? 

The protection of children 

and other vulnerable 

persons from being 

harmed or exploited by 

gambling 

Tracks permit access to 

children 

 

No - Children are 

allowed access to tracks 

on race days 

 Bet receipt terminals in 

areas where there is no 

supervision which would 

allow children or young 

persons to use machines 

undetected 

No - It is a mandatory condition of 

the operating licence that 

operators ensure that bet receipt 

terminals are supervised. This is not 

an issue for the premises licence. 

 Children are allowed 

access to areas holding 

category B and C gaming 

machines 

 

It is a mandatory condition of the 

operating licence that operators 

ensure that children are not 

allowed access to areas where 

Category B and C gaming machines 

are provided. However, section 182 

of the Act also creates a premises 

~ Page 39 ~



 

20 
 

licence condition that children and 

young persons must be excluded 

from areas where any gaming 

machines other than Category D 

are located. 

 Betting areas adjacent to 

areas where children/young 

persons are present such as 

play areas 

No - Children are allowed access to 

tracks on race days and so will be 

exposed to gambling areas.  It is a 

mandatory condition of the 

operating licence that operators do 

not accept bets from children or 

young persons. 

 Betting areas adjacent to 

areas where children/young 

persons are present such as 

play areas 

The Commission considers that the 

location of betting does not 

generally pose a risk to this 

licensing objective. Licensing 

authorities may impose their own 

local conditions there they perceive 

problems. 

Ensure gambling is 

conducted in a fair and 

open way 

 

The rules of betting are not 

displayed on the premises 

 

No (not an issue at application 

stage) - it is a mandatory condition 

of the premises licence that the 

rules of betting are displayed. 

 Unlicensed betting 

operators are allowed to 

operate on tracks 

 

No (not an issue at application 

stage) - it is a mandatory condition 

of the premises licence that licence 

holders make arrangements to 

ensure that they only allow 

licensed operators on tracks. 

 Betting takes place out of 

approved hours. 

No (not an issue at application 

stage) - it is a mandatory condition 

of the premises licence that betting 

only takes place  within the 

specified hours 

Prevent gambling from 

being a source of crime 

and disorder 

Betting is allowed in all parts 

of a track resulting in 

greater difficulties for track 

premises licence holders to 

identify instances of illegal 

Betting. 

No - the Commission's view is that 

this does not generally pose a risk 

to this objective. Licensing 

authorities may impose their own 

conditions should they perceive a 

problem 

~ Page 40 ~



 

21 
 

 No formal exit/entry points 

allowing easy access for 

unapproved operators and 

customers 

No - the Commission's view is that 

this does not generally pose a risk 

to this objective. Licensing 

authorities may impose their own 

conditions should they perceive a 

problem. 

 

The Licensing Authority will take any such guidance into consideration when determining an 

application for a track premises licence. 

 

Access to premises and other parts of the track 

Access between premises licensed for gambling and non-gambling areas is an important local 

licensing consideration, for reasons such as the following: 

 to prevent operators from seeking to circumvent the Act by artificially subdividing a 

premises and securing separate premises licences for its composite parts; 

 to ensure that operators do not circumvent regulations governing the maximum number of 

gaming machines applicable to specific premises; 

 to ensure that people who have entered a premises for one type of gambling are not 

exposed to another, potentially harder, form of gambling; 

 to ensure that there is no direct access between gambling premises to which children have 

access and those which they are prohibited from entering; 

 to ensure that all gambling premises have publicly accessible entrances; and 

 to ensure that gambling premises are not developed in the backrooms of other commercial 

premises. 

 

Access by children – special dispensation for tracks 

The Act forbids all persons under 18 years old to enter premises when betting facilities are being 

provided, other than at tracks. This dispensation allows families to attend premises such as 

greyhound tracks or racecourses on event days, and children to be permitted into areas where 

betting facilities are provided, such as the betting ring, where betting takes place. This dispensation 

does not, however, apply to: 

 areas within a track where category C or above machines are provided; or 

 other premises to which under 18 year olds are specifically not permitted access. 

Licensed betting operators at tracks are bound by their operating licence conditions which prevent 

them from accepting bets from persons who are under 18 years old. The track premises licence 

holder is also required through premises licence conditions to display a notice in a prominent place 

~ Page 41 ~



 

22 
 

at every public entrance stating that no person under the age of 18 is permitted to bet on the 

premises. 

There may be some specific considerations with regard to the protection of children and vulnerable 

persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, the need to ensure entrances to each type of 

premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling or betting areas where they are 

not permitted to enter. 

Children and young persons will by law be permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting 

are provided on days when dog racing and/or horse racing takes place, although they are still 

prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D machines) are 

provided. The Licensing Authority will normally expect Premises Licence applicants to demonstrate 

suitable measures to ensure the children do not have access to adult only gambling facilities. 

Appropriate measures may include: 

 Proof of Age schemes 

 CCTV 

 Door Supervisors 

 Supervision of entrances/machine areas 

 Physical separation of areas 

 Location of entry 

 Notices/signage 

 Specific opening hours 

 The location of gaming machines 

 Self-barring schemes 

 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare or 

Gamble Aware 

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures. 

 

Betting on event and non-event days 

Hours of betting on event days 

Premises licence holders will be expected to comply with the mandatory and default conditions 

applicable to them on both event and non-event days. The licensing authority will not generally 

expect to re-assess a licence application as a result of a change to the dates of sporting events, but 

would expect applicants and licence holders to make information about sporting fixtures available as 

part of the application. 

Significant changes to the fixture/events listing have a bearing on the licence conditions in that track 

premises licence holders will be expected to comply with the mandatory and default conditions 

applicable to them on both event and non-event days. 

~ Page 42 ~



 

23 
 

On days when no public sporting event is taking place on a track, gambling facilities may only be 

provided on the track between the hours of 7am and 10pm. Where the premises user intends to 

continue to offer facilities for gambling outside the proposed gambling hours on non-event days 

these facilities should be provided by virtue of an occasional use notice. 

 

On non-event days, tracks become similar to licensed betting offices on the high street. Tracks may 

achieve this requirement by: 

 locating all betting areas inside an area of the premises that is separated from the remainder 

of the premises by a physical barrier, thereby preventing access other than through a 

designated entrance; 

 only admitting adults to the part of the track where betting areas are located, by 

establishing procedures for verifying customer ages and refusing entry to adult-only areas 

for those unable to produce an acceptable form of identification (and taking action where 

there are unlawful attempts to enter adult-only areas); and 

 placing prominent notices in front of and inside each entrance stating that access to the area 

is prohibited to persons under 18. The Licensing authority may consider reducing the default 

gambling hours, providing any reduction is in line with the principles set out in section 153 of 

the Act. 

 

Bet receipt terminals 

Licensed operator  may install bet receipt terminals on tracks. There is no restriction on the number 

of bet receipt terminals that may be in use but operators must, by virtue of their operating licence 

conditions, supervise such terminals to prevent them being used by those under 18 years of age. 

There is no formal requirement on track premises licence holders to involve themselves in the 

procedures used by betting operators to supervise their bet receipt terminals unless specific local 

conditions specifying supervisory arrangements are added to the track premises licence by the 

licensing authority terminals. 

 

Gaming machines 

A track premises licence does not of itself entitle the holder to provide gaming machines, as this type 

of premises licence can be held without any corresponding operating licence. 

Where a track owner holds both a track premises licence and a pool betting operating licence issued 

by the Commission (in effect, greyhound tracks only), they may site up to four gaming machines 

within categories B2 to D on the track. 

Some tracks may also hold a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003. As such they will be 

automatically entitled under section 282 of the Act to two gaming machines of category C or D. 

~ Page 43 ~



 

24 
 

In such scenarios the operating licence entitlement does not take precedence, and each licence has 

its own requirements that must be complied with. 

Applications for permits to allow additional gaming machines are not permitted where the premises 

is already covered by a track premises licence. 

It is a condition of section 282 of the Act that alcohol-licensed premises licence holders (not 

necessarily the owners) must comply with any relevant provision of a code of practice under section 

24 about the location and operation of a gaming machine. The gaming machine permits code of 

practice can be found on the Commission’s website. 

Where track premises licence holders possess a pool betting operating licence, the Commission 

places a mandatory licence condition on such operators that they must: 

 have and put into effect documented policies and procedures to 

 prevent underage gambling; and 

 monitor the effectiveness of these. 

 

Track administration 

Administration of betting 

Administrative and quasi-regulatory arrangements in place to ensure that activities held on tracks 

run smoothly for paying customers, track operators and betting operators are considered to be 

outside the remit of the Act unless they affect the licensing objectives. 

 

The role of track premises licence holders 

The responsibilities of track premises licence holders are established by the mandatory and default 

licence conditions attaching to their premises licence. 

The licensed betting operators authorised by track owners to provide betting facilities at tracks must 

comply with their operating licence conditions and codes of practice issued by the Commission. 

Track premises licence holders have a responsibility to report regulatory breaches or potential 

breaches relating to the premises itself or to betting operators. 

 

Acceptance of bets 

Track premises licences for greyhound tracks and racecourses are subject to mandatory licence 

conditions requiring access to be offered at the track-side to betting operators generally. This 

prevents track premises licence holders who are also pool betting operators from becoming a 

monopoly supplier of betting on tracks. 

~ Page 44 ~



 

25 
 

While this does not mean that there must be independent betting operators on tracks on event 

days, track premises licence holders cannot hold events days without at least making places 

available to licensed operators. This matter is the responsibility of the Gambling Commission and not 

the Licensing Authority. 

 

Pool betting 

Under the Act, holders of track premises licences on licensed greyhound tracks are given exclusivity 

to offer pool betting facilities on greyhound racing. 

They may also authorise other people to conduct such pool betting on their behalf, although in all 

cases a relevant operating licence will be required to license this activity. 

A totalisator on a licensed greyhound track will only be permitted while the public are admitted to 

the track for the purpose of attending greyhound races, and no other sporting events are taking 

place. A mandatory condition is attached to the premises licence to this effect. 

 

Admission of betting operators 

It is a mandatory premises licence condition of track premises licences that the licence holder makes 

arrangements to ensure that the betting operators they admit to their track operate under valid 

operating licences. 

Track premises licence holders are responsible for determining their own arrangements for the 

verification of betting operators. As part of this process, the track premises licence holder should 

make arrangements for ensuring that the betting operator holds an operating licence. Additionally, 

both parties should agree a procedure for assessing that persons accepting bets on behalf of a 

betting operator either themselves hold operating licences in their own right, or are employed by 

the operator under a written contract of employment. 

 

Removal of illegal betting operators 

Track premises licence holders are required by a mandatory licence condition to take reasonable 

steps to remove from the racecourse anybody found to be providing facilities for gambling without 

authorisation. Failure to uphold this requirement could result in action being taken against the 

premises licence holder. 

Track premises licence holders are not expected to have proactive policies and procedures for 

identifying illegal gambling other than the mandatory requirement to verify that betting operators 

offering betting facilities on their track hold suitable operating licences. 

 

 

~ Page 45 ~



 

26 
 

Display of rules 

It is a mandatory condition of premises licences that clear and accessible information about the 

terms on which a bet may be placed must be displayed at betting premises, including tracks. 

The track premises licence holder should make the necessary arrangements to ensure that betting 

rules are accessible to all customers, regardless of which area of the track they are in. If certain areas 

are restricted to certain customers (such as different stands within a football ground) then rules 

could be displayed at various parts of the track. Other measures could be taken to ensure that they 

are made available to the public, such as printing them in the race-card or programme. The 

requirement could also be met by making a copy of the rules available in leaflet form from the main 

track office, and customers could be given a copy if they request one. 

Betting operators offering betting facilities on racecourses and at greyhound tracks are required 

through the conditions of their operating licence to clearly display any of their own rules that differ 

from those that the track premises licence holder elects to display, and their rules concerning voids, 

late bets, and maximum pay-outs. For racecourses and greyhound tracks, the maximum pay-out will 

vary according to the rules of individual on-course operators. 

 

Approved betting areas 

Betting areas 

In considering applications, the licensing authority will take into account the licensing objectives and 

assess whether these objectives are compromised by proposed betting arrangements. The location 

of betting areas (other than those for gaming machines and bet receipt terminals) is not considered 

a threat to the licensing objectives and therefore no additional conditions would normally be 

imposed by licensing authorities, unless the circumstances are such that the Licensing Authority 

considers that the licensing objectives would be undermined. 

 

Multiple licences 

The Act permits a Licensing Authority to issue more than one premises licence for a track provided 

that each licence relates to a distinct specified area of the track (although there cannot be more 

than one premises licence covering the same area of the track). 

This enables track owners to extend existing facilities to provide other gambling facilities such as a 

casino on their existing tracks, whereby these additional gambling activities are covered by separate 

premises licences. 

Where an application is made for an additional premises licence, the Licensing Authority will 

consider the following matters when determining an application: 

 access issues in particular whether access to the desired premises will be allowed directly 

from the track. Direct access between a track and other betting premises (other than a track 

~ Page 46 ~



 

27 
 

betting shop) is not permitted. The track owner would need to make arrangements so that 

access to a casino or bingo hall would be via a street, not via the track itself. 

Where a particular area of a track is already subject to a premises licence, and a person wishes to 

apply for a licence to offer another type of activity in that area, an application must be made to the 

licensing authority to vary the original premises licence. The new track premises licence can only be 

granted at the same time as, or after, the original licence has been varied. 

Where the Licensing authority receives an application indicating separate betting areas that may not 

necessarily have clear physical boundaries, such as walls or fencing, it may grant the licence where it 

is satisfied that the area is clearly delineated, both in terms of making it clear to the public that they 

are entering a ‘betting office’, and to keep out persons aged under 18. 

Where the licensing authority is not satisfied that a new activity in an existing area is clearly 

delineated, it may consider refusing the application. 

 

Social responsibility considerations for tracks 

The Act places a condition on the track premises licence that the licensee shall ensure that children 

and young persons are excluded from any area where facilities for betting are provided (unless on 

race days at racetracks and at greyhound tracks). 

 

Travelling Fairs 

A travelling fair is defined under the Act as a “fair consisting wholly or principally of the provision of 

amusements” and is provided “wholly or principally by persons who travel from place to place for 

the purpose of providing fairs”. 

A travelling fair meeting the statutory definition will be permitted to make one or more category D 

gaming machines available for use as no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair. A travelling 

fair can only be sited on a piece of land that has not been used for the purposes of a fair, for more 

than 27 days per calendar year. 

The Licensing Authority will monitor pieces of land within the borough to ensure that 27 day 

statutory period  is not exceeded in any one calendar year regardless as to whether it is the same or 

different travelling fairs occupying the land. 

This Licensing Authority will ensure that the provision of category D machines, which are made 

available for use at a travelling fair, amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair. 

 

Premises Licences 

In carrying out the licensing function under the Act the Licensing Authority will aim to permit the use 

of premises for Gambling as long as it is considered to be:- 

~ Page 47 ~



 

28 
 

 In accordance with any relevant Codes of Practise issued by the Gaming Commission 

 In accordance with any relevant Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

 In accordance with this Statement of Gambling Policy 

 Consistent with the licensing objectives. 

A premises licence can authorise the provision of facilities at the following: 

 casino premises 

 bingo premises 

 betting premises, including betting tracks 

 adult gaming centres 

 family entertainment centres 

Section 152 of the Gambling Act 2005 defines “Premises” to be “any place” but prevents more than 

one premises licence applying to any one place. A single building can be subject to more than one 

premises licence provided that the licences are for different parts of the building and those parts can 

be genuinely regarded as being different ‘premises’. 

Due to concerns by the Gambling Commission that some operators may try to circumvent legislation 

by artificially sub-dividing premises in order to be granted separate premises licences for the same 

place, and thus be able to provide extra high pay-out machines, further guidance has been issued. 

In order to ensure that operators do not attempt to circumvent the spirit of the Gambling Act the 

Licensing Authority will look carefully at any proposed breakdown of premises and consider the 

suitability of any such separation, its locations and whether it can comply with mandatory codes of 

practice. 

The Gambling Act distinguishes between different types of premises, by doing so the intention is 

that the gambling activity authorised by that premises licence is the primary activity. A new 

operating licence conditions are now in place requiring that Casino, Bingo and Betting operators can 

only provide machines as an ancillary to the primary activity they are licensed for. 

The Licensing Authority will consider very carefully whether applications for premises licence in 

respect of certain gambling premises located very close to a school, or a centre for gambling addicts 

should be granted in light of the third licensing objective. If an applicant for a premises licence can 

show how licensing objective concerns can be overcome, that will have to be taken into account. 

Each case will be decided on its merits, and will depend to a large extent on the type of gambling 

that it is proposed will be offered on the premises. 

 

 

 

Once granted a premises licence may still be subject to Review proceedings if there are concerns 

that a premises is not promoting the licensing objectives. The Licensing Authority will carry out a 

review of a Premises Licence where it has received a formal application for review in accordance 

23.0 Reviews 

~ Page 48 ~



 

29 
 

with the Act. Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or 

responsible authorities, 

Due consideration will be given to all relevant representations, a representation will be relevant 

unless they fit the following:- 

 The grounds are frivolous; 

 The grounds are vexatious; 

 The grounds will not cause the Licensing Authority to revoke or suspend a licence or to 

remove, amend or attach conditions on the premises licence; 

 The grounds are substantially the same as the grounds cited in a previous application 

relating to the same premises; or 

 The grounds are substantially the same as representations made at the time the application 

for a premises licence was considered. 

The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of any reason which it 

thinks is appropriate. 

 

 

 

Prize Gaming Permits 

An application can be made by anyone who occupies or plans to occupy relevant premises for a Prize 

Gaming Permit. In the case of an individual applicant the individual must be aged over 18 years of 

age. 

There a number of conditions within the Act that will apply to a prize gaming permit, but the 

licensing authority cannot attach any further conditions.  . 

The conditions in the Act are: 

 The limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with; 

 All chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which the 

gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and completed on the day 

the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in the premises 

on the day that it is played; 

 The prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in regulations (if 

a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and 

 Participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other gambling. 

A permit can only be granted if the Licensing Authority has consulted with the chief officer of police. 

Any rejection will have to give the applicant an opportunity to respond both orally and in writing. 

Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres 

24.0 Permits and Registrations 

~ Page 49 ~



 

30 
 

An unlicensed family entertainment centre can provide category D machines only by virtue of a 

permit issued by the Licensing Authority. Children are permitted to play category D machines and 

such premises may need to have stringent measures in place. 

The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but 

includes wider child protection considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will 

each be considered on their merits; however, they may include CRB checks for staff, training 

covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or 

children causing perceived problems on / around the premises. 

Club Gaming Permits & Club Machine Permits 

A Members’ Club or Miners Welfare Institute may apply to the Licensing Authority for either a Club 

Gaming Permit or a Club Machine Permit. A commercial members club may apply for a Club Machine 

Permit only. 

This Licensing Authority is aware that it may only refuse an application on the grounds that: 

 the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ club,  commercial members 

club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit 

for which it has applied; 

 the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons; 

 an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the applicant while 

providing gaming facilities; 

 a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or 

 an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police 

Both permits allow for the premises to provide up to three gaming machines of either category B, C 

or D to be made available and a Club Gaming permit also permits the club to provide certain types of 

Gaming at the premises as may be prescribed by the Secretary of State. Currently this is Bridge and 

Whist. 

Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits 

Premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises without any conditions restricting 

the sale as an ancillary to food, are automatically entitled to have 2 gaming machines. Provided they 

notify the licensing authority in writing and pay the prescribed fee. 

If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines a Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit 

must be applied for. The licensing authority must consider that application based upon the licensing 

objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission and any relevant matters. 

This licensing authority considers that “matters” will be decided on a case by case basis but generally 

there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being 

exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be 

sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming 

machines. 

~ Page 50 ~



 

31 
 

As regards to the protection of vulnerable persons the applicants may wish to consider the provision 

of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

Temporary Use Notices 

Part 9 of the Gambling Act 2005 allows gambling to be carried out in specified circumstances on a 

temporary basis, subject to a temporary use notice being served on the Licensing Authority, the 

Gambling Commission, the Police and HM Revenue & Customs.  All these persons can raise 

objections having regard to the licensing objectives. 

A Temporary Use Notice can only be given by the holder of an operating licence and can only 

authorise gambling for which that operating licence authorises. A set of premises cannot be 

authorised for more than 21 days under Temporary Use Notices. A notice must be served not less 

than three months and one day before the day on which the event may begin. 

The licensing authority will consider each application and the objections on their own individual 

merits. 

Small Society Lotteries Registration 

The Licensing Authority is responsible for registering small society lotteries. To be eligible to register 

the society must be established and conducted for charitable purposes, for the purpose of enabling 

participation in, or of supporting sport, athletics or  a cultural activity or for any other non-

commercial purpose other than that of private gain. 

When receiving an application for a small lottery registration, as soon as practical it must: 

 Enter the details on the register 

 Notify the applicant of the registration and 

 Notify the Gambling Commission of the registration 

The Licensing Authority will exercise its functions under this Act in relation to lotteries in accordance 

with the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, particularly the need to be satisfied that the 

organisation falls within the definition of a small society and may request a signed declaration from 

the organisation that they are bona fide non-commercial society. 

 

 

The Gambling Commission will take the lead role in investigation and, where appropriate, the 

prosecution of illegal gambling. 

The Licensing Authority intends to use appropriate enforcement to promote the licensing objectives.   

Once licensed, it is essential that premises are monitored to ensure that they are run in accordance 

with the provisions of the Gambling Act, codes of practice and in compliance with any licence 

conditions.  It will also be important to monitor the Borough for unlicensed premises. 

25.0 Enforcement 

~ Page 51 ~



 

32 
 

The Licensing Authority will seek to work actively with the Gambling Commission, Leicestershire 

Police and other responsible authorities where appropriate in enforcing licensing legislation and 

intends to establish a protocol with Leicestershire Constabulary on enforcement issues to ensure an 

efficient deployment of police and council officers. 

Enforcement activities will be targeted in terms of risk and so as best to promote the licensing 

objectives. In addition account will be taken of the general enforcement policy of the licensing 

authority, which aims to ensure that enforcement is open, fair, reasonable and proportionate. 

 

 

 

The Licensing Authority will investigate complaints against licensed premises in relation to matters 

relating to the licensing objectives for which it has responsibility.  In the first instance, complainants 

are encouraged to raise the complaint directly with the licence holder or business concerned to seek 

a local resolution. 

Where an interested party has made either a valid representation about licensed premises or a valid 

application for a licence to be reviewed, the Licensing Authority may initially arrange a conciliation 

meeting to address and clarify the issues of concern. 

This process will not override the right of any interested party to ask that the licensing committee 

consider their valid objections or for any licence holder to decline to participate in a conciliation 

meeting. 

 

 

 

Further information about the Gambling Act 2005, this Statement of Licensing Policy, the application 

process, and fees, can be obtained from:- 

Licensing Section 
Oadby & Wigston Borough Council 
Station Road 
Wigston 
Leicestershire 
LE18 2DR 
Tel:   0116 257 2637 
E-Mail:   licensing@oadby-wigston.gov.uk   
 

Information is also available at 

Gambling Commission 
Victoria Square House 

26.0 Complaints against Licensed Premises 

27.0 Further Information 

~ Page 52 ~

mailto:licensing@oadby-wigston.gov.uk


 

33 
 

Victoria Square 
Birmingham 
B2 4BP  
Tel:  0121 230 6666 
Website: www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk  
 

 

~ Page 53 ~

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1: Map of the Borough 

~ Page 54 ~



 

35 
 

 

 
 

 Leicestershire Constabulary 

 Association of British Bookmakers 

 British Amusement Catering Trades Association 

 Bingo Association 

 British Horse Racing Board 

 Working Men’s Club and Institute Union 

 British Beer and Pub Association 

 Gamcare 

 Racecourse Association  

 Salvation Army 

 The local Citizens Advice Bureau 

 Leicestershire Partnership NHS  

 Leicestershire Fire Service 

 Gambling Commission 

 Betfred 

 Gala Leisure 

 Ladbrokes 

 All Betting Premises within the Borough of Oadby and Wigston 

 Oadby and Wigston Borough Council Environmental Health Department 

 Oadby and Wigston Borough Council Planning Department 

 All Oadby and Wigston Borough Council Councillors 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2: List of Bodies Consulted 

~ Page 55 ~


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Action List Arising from the Chair's Briefing
	8 Licensing Team Plan (2022-2026)
	9 Regulatory Services Update (Q3 2021/22)
	10 Statement of Gambling Policy (2022-2025)
	Appendix 1 - Draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2022-2025


